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ABSTRACT

Few details of the Armenian pioneers who came to the State of
Victoria durtng the nineteenth century have been published. In 1966 Father
Aramais’ erza:an first mentioned their arrival, closely followed by Ashot
Abrahamian’ in 1967. While their works have provided a basis for later
writers, they contain shortcomings in both facts and conclusions. Part One
of this paper addresses these, while Part Two identifies many of the
Armenian pioneers. A more detailed picture of those pioneers has been
constructed, thereby adding to the narrative of Armenian migration to
Victoria and hence, to Australia.

PART ONE

Formerly the priest in Calcutta, Father Aramais Mirzaian (1918-1998)
took up his duties as Arch priest to the Armenian community in Sydney in
1958." Very interested in his flock and encouraged by several of its
members, he compiled his comprehensive book Armenians in Australia
and New Zealand which mainly consists of short biographies of
contemporary Armenians, plus some overseas celebrities. His comments on
the pioneers comprise a minute portion of the book, less than one third of a
page with the same information later reiterated. However as his statements
are cited by later writers,” and repeated in his later books,” albeit with
minor changes in phraseology, they need to be examined. They tend to be
speculative, lack detail, and although are regarded as factual, this is not
always the case. Yet we must bear in mind that Father Mirzaian was not
writing this section as a historian, and did not have access to computerized
records which today’s researchers can utilise.

According to Mirzaian, Armenians first settled in Victoria during the
Gold Rushes of the mid-1850s, some arriving from Constantinople, others
from India. They had been inspired by Gregory Galastaun, a patriotic
Armenian from Singapore, who through his newspaper Qusumnaser (the
scholar) advocated the founding of a new colony. Indeed Mirzaian stated
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that Gregory Galastaun even proposed ‘the mass ?trangfer 'of the whole
prosperous Armenian colony in India to Australia’, seeing it as a land of
opportunity. However, he encountered strong opposition from Me.srovb
Thaliadian (1803-1858)% the publisher of Azgaser Araratian (patriot of
Ararat) in Calcutta, the two men becoming involved in much debate on this
matter. Thaliadian maintained that Armenians were better off staying in
Calcutta where they had put down roots and were secure, rather than
pursuing a risky adventure.” Perhaps his views held sway for only a few
men followed Gregory to Australia.

Mirzaian claimed that a Mr Malcolm from New Julfa, as well as
Gregory Galastaun worked hard ‘to increase and establish the Armenian
community in Australia on a firm basis,” with Mr Malcolm holding
morning services on Sundays, thus offering spiritual comfort to his
«:«Dmpatricnts.'0 However, there is no verification of this.

Mirzaian’s ‘Mr Malcolm’ would appear to be the Malcolm Manuk who
wrote a letter to his friend Martyrose Carapiet in Singapore, which was
later published in Qusumnaser.'' Malcolm’s letter was not optimistic. He
described how he, Zakaren and others made their way to Bendigo which
was 120 miles away. Unable to cope with the cold weather, he returned to
Melbourne, stayed a short time, then travelled to the mine at Mount
Alexander (Castlemaine). Here, to his relief. he and two Englishmen
discovered some gold. Malcolm took his share and when he got it weighed
by the official assayer, it measured a considerable eight pounds. After
paying what he owed for food and provisions, Malcolm was left with only
five pounds and six ounces. This he entrusted to a very reliable gentleman
by the name of Major Davidson.

Malcolm commented on the high cost of goods at the goldfields and
gave details of the wages manual workers could earn in Melbourne. He
remarked that although his own position was neither good nor bad, he was
quite distressed to see women trying to sell a few vegetables just to
survive. He warned that each day thousands of people arrived from Europe,
America and elsewhere which pushed prices up. Malcolm said that he
hoped to leave the following year and advised readers that letters could be
sent to him care of the Catholic Chapel at Melbourne, Port Philip. It is this
last sentence which | believe has wrongly led to the repeated and
embellished assertion that Malcolm Manuk conducted Church services. '

Mirzaian concluded that most Armenians probably assimilated,'” but
later contradicted himself saying that most of them returned to their
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homelands." There is more validity to the latter statement, but not to the
comment added in a later book: that the men left at the end of the Gold
Rushes."’

Other of Mirzaian’s statements are questionable, including the
assertion that Armenians came from Constantinople.'® I have found no
evidence of Armenians from Turkey living in Victoria during the Gold
Rushes. His citing of Hovsep Miradian'’ as a pioneer who came during the
1850s Gold Rush, while incorrect,'” has been accepted.'” Hovsep, who
called himself Joseph, arrived in Australia much later in the nineteenth
century. According to his death certificate, he was born in Armenia in
1870, and arrived in Australia at the age of ten. But this seems just as
improbable as his mother’s name being Sarah Morgan, as was written on
his death certificate.” In contrast, Joseph’s statutory declaration which he
filled out when successfully applying for naturalisation. attested that he had
arrived in 1891 as a twenty-seven year old on the Darmstadt, which means
he was born in 1864.”'

Mirzaian briefly referred to the Thomas family from Batavia (see later)
and Thaddeus Apcar erroneously claiming they remained after the Gold
Rushes,” when in fact, they arrived in the 1860s. Furthermore, the
Thomases arrived with three children, not two,” while Thaddeus was never
a wine dealer in Sydney, but a more lowly wire worker,”* and no evidence
has been found to suggest he was in Victoria.

Mirzaian and Price alleged that the difficulties the men faced and their
lack of success on the goldfields led them to return, disillusioned, to their
homelands. However the authors added that some Armenians settled
permanently because they could not afford to return, and gradually they
forgot their Armenian culture and heritage.” One could equally argue that
they settled permanently as life in Victoria offered better prospects than
life back home. | would question their claim that those who settled forgot
their culture.” Mirzaian commented that records are scanty” and even
non-existent.”® It is perhaps because of this that Mirzaian resorted to
conjecture in his comments. However, records are there: like gold diggers
one has to search for the elusive prize.

One year after Mirzaian’s Armenians in Australia and New Zealand
appeared, Professor Ashot Abrahamian (1903-1983) a respected historian
and writer living in Armenia released his book A4 Brief History of the
Armenian Diaspora. Written in Armenian, this extensive work overviewed
the global Armenian Diaspora with justifiably only a short chapter, of some
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nine pages, on Armenians in Australia in the ‘n.ineteenth century. Almhlcsugh
much longer than Mirzaian’s account, and citing Armenian sources,” his
few facts generally echo Mirzaian’s. However, thc.lwo.accoun*ts differ
markedly in one respect. Mirzaian claimed the Armenian pioneers intended
to settle, while Abrahamian regarded their presence as transitory: the rich
were looking for commercial outlets and the poor were Iookiny% for work,
and both groups would return home after becoming wealthy.”" However
Abrahamian must have also considered Mirzaian’s theory as he gave
reasons why the ‘colony” failed.

Abrahamian painted a despairing, but undocumented picture of
Armenian merchants in India in the 1850s, seeing them as being
discriminated against, and forced out of the export markets.”' Hence they
looked towards Australia. He asserted that the first Armenian immigrants
to Australia disappeared without trace, but this did not stop the migration
of Armenians from New Julfa, many having followed Malcolm Manuk.
to establish the first Armenian settlement. They were followed by later
arrivals of Russian and Western Armenians. Abrahamian concluded that
the new settlement was at the cost of much human sacrifice and that the
pioneers were all unknown.”

According to Abrahamian, the majority of the Armenians did not do
well in Australia with only a few being successful on the goldfields while
the businesses ended up bankrupt.™ He attributed this lack of success and
the fact that only males arrived as reasons the Armenian colony did not
grow. The other reason was the xenophobic attitude of Australians who
saw new arrivals on the goldfields as competitors and thus enemies.’’
Further, it was due to this xenophobia that Armenian settlements in
Australia in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries did not
succeed: Armenians were reluctant to migrate having heard of the bad
experiences suffered by the earlier migrants who had returned home
*somewhat dejected’.*®

However, Abrahamian’s conclusions are flawed. Contrary to what he
implied, Armenian firms, though few, were flourishing in India, in and
beyond the 1850s. One need only think of successful businessmen such as
Arratoon G. Apcar, J. C. Galstaun, Arathoon Stephen, John Michael,
Thaddeus Avetoom and Thaddeus M. Thaddeus to realise that the
Armenian community was thriving.”’

Abrahamian has presented no evidence of many Armenians following
Malcolm Manuk, or of the arrival of later Armenians from Russia and



Armenia. That Armenians fared poorly on the goldfields was an experience
not unique to them. Of the thousands who flocked to the goldfields, very
few made the fortunes they had dreamed of. Often ill-equipped for the task
ahead of them and ignorant of the weather and work conditions, many
diggers left the fields sorely disappointed.

As for Australians being xenophobic on the goldfields, it is arguable
whether there was such a person as an ‘Australian’: the continent was not
united politically, and, if anything miners saw themselves as Victorian or
New South Welshmen or Britons. Besides, on the very cosmopolitan
goldfields the main distinction seemed to be between seasoned diggers and
‘new chums’. Abrahamian’s implied claim of racism is not borne out by
Malcolm Manuk’s comment that he searched for gold along with two
Englishmen, or by the help later given to Johannes Gregory. That this
alleged xenophobia discouraged later Armenian migration does not stand
up to scrutiny. Abrahamian has juxtaposed events to read that the
Armenian migrants of the late 1890s had contact with the pioneers of the
1850s. Not only is this most improbable time-wise, but later Armenian
migrants originated from different places to the Gold Rush Armenians.

I suggest it is incorrect to assume the community did not grow due to a
lack of males as Abrahamian has posited. It must be remembered, for
example, that most of the pioneering Armenians who ventured to Penang
and later to Singapore were males; they either turned to another Armenian
community to marry an Armenian, or married a non-Armenian. Rather |
think that a ‘community” per se never developed because numbers were too
few to allow for one to be demographically sustainable.

Besides, if as Abrahamian implied, the plan was to stay for a short
time, then there was not the commitment to found a colony. There is some
validity for regarding the first Armenians as visitors rather than settlers,
because those who were married did not bring their wives to Australia.
This is unusual as Armenians who intended settling usually travelled with
their families. However, Gregory Galastaun left his wife in Singapore
while Peter Seth left a wife and three children behind.

After referring to censuses, Mirzaian and Abrahamian reached sharply
contrasting conclusions on the numbers of Armenians both in Victoria and
in Australia. Citing an 1891 census, Abrahamian claimed there were
several hundred Armenians in Australia with most living in Melbourne,
Sydney, Brisbane and Broken Hill.*® This is an amazing claim as the 1891
census showed only three Armenians in Queensland™ and three in
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Victoria. The 1901 Victorian census “shou:fed one migrant ‘whose
birthplace was given as Armenia/Kurdistan, whnl? er_za.um and Price cite
the 1901 census as showing six *Armenian Catholics’ living in New South
Wales plus another six in Victoria. Mjgzaian knowledgeably suggests these
were probably Armenian Apostolic.” These low numbers are in sharp
contrast to the high figure given by Abrahamian, and more realistic, though
probably are slightly under the actual number of Armenians present.

Mirzaian and Price stated that in censuses after 1901 the country
Armenia was subsumed by Turkey, Russia or Persia."’ However
Armenians were listed in the 1911 Australian census: one male lived in
New South Wales, and one male and one female lived in Victoria *
(Recent research shows more than three Armenians were living in
Australia in 1911.)" One reason for the discrepancy between actual
numbers and census numbers was that as many Armenians were born
outside of Armenia, the ‘place of birth’ category became an unreliable
indicator of ethnicity. So did *nationality’, as for example Armenians from
India or the Straits Settlements held British nationality. Thus, as rightly
implied by Mirzaian and Price, the Armenianity of many Armenian
migrants was masked by bureaucracy. This has remained a stumbling block
for those trying to account for the number of Armenians who have
migrated to Australia.

Curiously, both Abrahamian,*® and Mirzaian and Price®” describe a
Hagop Der Minassian whom they claim arrived in Australia in the 1 860s.
While their stories are quite similar, neither writer has cited any sources for
his information. Der Minassian is described as one of the two famous
Armenian migrants who had a tragic end in the nineteenth century. He had
fought at the Battle of Balaclava but came to Australia to make his fortune.
Famed also for his diplomatic and linguistic skills he planned to found an
Armenian printing press and publish a newspaper highlighting the plight of
Armenians in the Ottoman Empire. After some initial success, he sank into
oblivion; his medals and citations were sold to antique dealers and he died
when he was seventy-two years old.

This story raises many questions such as why Der Minassian would
have set up an Armenian printing press in distant Australia, which had such
a limited readership. Close scrutiny of passenger lists, genealogical and
Internet resources have failed to unearth any details of his arrival, or
existence in Australia. Neither was he mentioned in Mirzaian’s earlier
books.



PART TWO

Contrary to Mirzaian’s and Abrahamian’s claims, the Armenians who
ventured to Victoria are not all anonymous, and records pertaining to them
are extant. Today, the task of identifying the pioneers has been somewhat
eased by the creation of indexes, digitalized records and databases which
were unavailable to Mirzaian and Abrahamian.

The first known Armenian in Victoria was the earlier mentioned
Malcolm Manuk whose letter in Qusumnaser contains the only found
references to Malcolm himself and his companions Zakaren and
Hovhannes.

However, during 1853 at least fourteen more Armenians arrived in
Victoria. Malcolm Moses disembarked at Geelong on 23 June 1853, one of
six passengers who had boarded the Kas Balhair at Singapore.** On 20 July
Gregory Galastaun, Mr Joackum [sic] and Stephen Stephens arrived on the
Chusan, their voyage from Singapore having taken one month and six
days."” The Derwent arrived from Batavia (Jakarta) on 2 September
carrying only three passengers, all of whom were Armenian: namely A. P.
Aganoor, N. Marturas [sic] and J. S. Sarkies.™

On 21 September 1853 the Yarra arrived in Port Phillip Bay, having
left Singapore on 27 July.” Commanded by Captain Ebenezer Roy, the
Yarra carried Joakim Jacob, Mr M. Johannes, Moses Sarkies, Peter Seth
and Gregory Zechariah. Like their compatriots on the Derwent, the men
were the only passengers and travelled cabin class.>

Kerakoos Arathoon and his son, Johannes,* the first known Armenians
to have travelled from India arrived on 15 December 1853, on board the
Sephinatoola from Bombay. Whether they were residents of Bombay or
had embarked there is unknown.

In December 1854, Chatoor Arratoon, born in Armenia in about 1808,
sailed from Singapore to Victoria.”™ Including another J. Arratoon and
Johannes M. Gregory who appear later in the narrative, the ‘Gold Rush’
Armenians numbered only eighteen.

I will review these Armenian venturers in order of their arrival,
beginning with Malcolm Moses in 1853. While there was a Malcolm
Moses living in Singapore in the 1850s, there is no mention in the
Singapore directories of his being absent from the colony.” No further
definite mention of him has been found in Victorian records; three men
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with the name of M. Moses left Melbourne in the early 1860s, Malcolm
may have been one of them.™ _ _ =4

Among the next arrivals was Gregory David Galastaun: the inspiration
and leader of the small band of hopefuls from Singapore. Born in Shiraz
circa 1814 he became a trader in Penang in the late 1830s and in 1841, at
St Gregory’s Church in Penang, he married Hqsannah Aviet Seth.”” The
couple settled in Singapore where in 1849 Gregory began publishing
Ousumnaser.”® Today, copies of these are held in the State Library of
Victoria in Melbourne;”” they were either brought over by Gri%ory or
earlier posted to Malcolm Manuk, as he had requested in his letter.

Conditions where Gregory and his compatriots lived were not good.
The Melbourne of the mid-1850s was chaotic as the Gold Rushes had
caused a massive influx of fortune-seekers from all corners of the globe. In
1851 alone, over 30,000 unassisted passengers arrived and that number
increased the following vear.®’ The huge increase in population, albeit
transitory, strained the infrastructure of this colony which had only recently
separated from New South Wales. Sanitary arrangements within
Melbourne were primitive, medical resources limited and illnesses quickly
spread. Within six months of his arrival, Gregory had contracted dysentery
- an all too frequent cause of death in the 1850s. Losing a three-week battle
for life, he died at Sandridge (Port Melbourne) on 27 January 1854, aged
thirty-nine. Gregory was buried in the Melbourne General Cemetery,” the
first known Armenian to die in Victoria if not Australia. Today, an
unmarked plot exists where he was buried.

Of Gregory’s two companions, nothing has been found on the activities
of Mr Joackum [sic]. Perhaps he was the Mr Joakin [sic] who sailed to
Batavia on the Oriental on 4 April 1854.*° Stephen Stephens also proved
problematical. While a Stephen Stephens was listed as renting a house in
Emerald Hill from 1855-1857, the fact that he owned a six-roomed brick
house in 1858 strong{z suggests that this Stephen Stephens was not a
newly arrived migrant.” No definite trace of Stephen’s departure has been
found. While a Stephen S. Stephens later lived in Singapore, he was born
about 1841 and hence is unlikely to have been the Stephen Stephens who
came out to Victoria.

It is doubtful whether the three Armenians who sailed from Batavia
entertained ideas of joining the stampede to the Gold Rushes: it is more
likely that commercial interests were on their minds. John Shahnazar
Sarkies (1831-1904) was a merchant in Batavia, running his newly
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established firm J. S. Sarkies & Company before he ventured south.”
Mesrovb Seth’s claim that John taught English in Melbourne for two years
before 1855,° seems unusual, and searches in Melbourne directories from
1853-1856 did not reveal John’s name. He had returned to Batavia by 1855
where he ran John Sarkies & Company, and, from 1864, Sarkies, Edgar &
Company in Surabaya.’” After a successful business career, John and his
wife Anna retired to Singapore where their younger daughter Mrs Mary
Anna Martin lived. Following John’s death in 1904, Anna built the new
parsonage at St Gregory’s Church in his honour.*®

Records suggest that Aganoor Petrus Aganoor (1822-1886), another
successful merchant, had a brief sojourn in Melbourne. A Mr Aganoor is
listed as a passenger on the Hellespont which sailed for Sydney on 6
December 1853.°” but to confuse matters, a Mr Aignoor [sic] returned to
Batavia on the Oriental in April 1854.”° Whenever he returned, Aganoor
became a pillar of the Armenian community and a prominent businessman
in Java. Aganoor and his family later left for England, where he established
a new branch of his firm. When he died in London, aged sixty-three, the
Armenian community mourned the loss of one of its most prominent
members.”’

The third Armenian from Batavia, Mr N, Marturas is hard to identify.
A merchant family by the name of Martherus was well-established in
Batavia in the 1850s although no men had a first name beginning with *N’.
However, this could be a typographical error. A Mr Marthause sailed for
Batavia on the Oriental with Mr Joakin [sic] and Mr Aignoor [sic] in April
1854. All travelled as cabin passengers so they had sufficient funds for a
more comfortable journey, and interestingly were listed as English.”

The five men who arrived from Singapore in September 1853, formed
the largest group to land in Victoria. It included nineteen year-old
Singapore-born Gregory Joakim Jacob, one of the few Armenians who
ventured to the goldfields. He ended up in Ballarat, remaining a miner for
the rest of his life. Married to Eliza Cooper, who already had a young
family, Gregory had only one daughter, Hannah, who died aged twenty in
the Ballarat Hospital in 1886.”" In 1881, some twelve years after Eliza’s
premature death, Gregory married Julia Ryan.”* Dying on 29 April 1906, at
the age of seventy-three,” Gregory Jacob was buried in the New Cemetery
in the same grave as Eliza and Hannah.™

Moses Sarkies remains a mystery as does his fellow traveller Mr M.
Johannes. Both embarked at Singapore, but neither man was listed in the
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directories for Singapore in the early 1850s. Perhaps Singapo.re was their
point of embarkation; not their residence. A Moses Sarkies lived in
Calcutta at the turn of the twentieth century: perhaps he was a descendant.
More is known of their companions.

Peter Aviet Seth (1812-1886) was Gregory Galastaun’s brother-in-law.
Originally from Madras, he went to Singapore as a sixteen year old. For
some years he traded on his own, but in 1840 joined with his brothers to
form the short-lived trading firm of Seth Brothers. After its collapse he set
up as a shop keeper and commercial agent importing and exporting goods
to and from Java, Whampoa, Bombay and Calcutta. He also ran the
Lithographic Press and printed Ousumnaser for Gregory Galastaun.

Peter sailed to Melbourne leaving behind his wife Hosanna and their
three young children.”” I have found no record of how he earned his living
in Melbourne or if he ventured to the goldfields; it is more likely he was
evaluating Melbourne as a trading prospect. He did not remain in Victoria
for long: by 1855 he had resumed work in Singapore as an auctioneer
though still engaging in some export/import business.” It is not surprising
that he added Melbourne and Sydney to the ports he imported from and
exported to.”’

Much more is known of Peter Seth’s kinsman: Gregory Zechariah,
born in 1826. The eldest son of prominent Singapore Armenian merchant
Isaiah Zechariah and his wife Ashkhen, he became a prize-winning student
at the Singapore Institute. After leaving school, Gregory did not follow his
father into trade but found work as a clerk, his last post before leaving
Singapore being at the Oriental Bank *°

In Melbourne, Gregory soon secured a post as a clerk with the Oriental
Banking Corporation. Earning an appreciable £100 per year, he married
Selina Scott from Ireland, at St Paul’s Church on S5 July 1854, thus
becoming the first Armenian to marry in Melbourne.*' In early 1855 the
couple lived in Coventry Street in Emerald Hill before shifting to Dorcas
Street where they rented a brick and wood house which comprised one
room, a kitchen and an attic.*” Unattractive as that may sound, the family
was comparatively well off. Gregory’s salary provided a steady income in
a respectable profession, offering a young father greater security for his
family. Later in 1856 he was able to rent a wooden house with four rooms
in York Street.®

The couple’s two children were amongst the first known Armenians
born in Melbourne, Eliza born on 10 July 1855 being the first Armenian
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girl born in Victoria.* Gregory, born on 12 November 1856, sadly became
the first Armenian child to die in Melbourne, succumbing to gastrodynia on
17 April 1857 aged only five months. He was buried in the Melbourne
General Cemetery in the same plot as Gregory Galastaun.**

Surprisingly, considering their comfortable situation in Melbourne, the
Zechariah family set sail for Singapore on the Rota on 3 November 1857.
The ship’s passenger manifest listed Gregory as a ‘gentleman’.®® but
arriving in Singapore in January 1858, Gregory returned to clerical work.
In the early 1870s, the now expanded family moved to Taiping in Malaya,
where Gregory was appointed Chief Clerk to the Resident of Perak. He
seems to have died by 1887.%

The oldest Armenian known to arrive was fifty year old Kerakoos
Arathoon. Originally from Isfahan, he had settled in Madras, marrying
Hosanna Seth Sam in April 1824.* One of their six children, twenty-four
year old Johannes, accompanied Kerakoos to Victoria.*” They tried their
luck at alluvial gold mining at Pleasant Creek (Stawell) where encouraging
discoveries had been made in August 1853. However, this site was inaptly
named for Kerakoos who died of fever on 8 November 1857.% Perhaps
Johannes moved from the area as in mid-1861 there was unclaimed mail
for J. Kerakoos.” On 27 December 1862, he sailed on the Alhambra for
Port Chalmers, New Zealand, presumably to try his luck on the Central
Otago goldfields.”

In 1854, one year after the arrival in Melbourne of Kerakoos and
Johannes Arathoon, came Chatoor Arratoon and J. Arratoon. They settled
in Maryborough as quartz reef miners - those who searched for gold in the
quartz veins rather than looking for alluvial gold. Intending to remain in
Victoria, Chatoor applied for naturalisation which was granted on 23
January 1863.” The two men were listed as miners, albeit under the name
Arrahoon, in Maryborough between 1868 and 1870, but not after that,”
although Chatoor was still living in the Maryborough area in 1875. Dying
of bronchitis in the hospital at Inglewood on 9 June 1886, he was buried in
the Inglewood Cemetery. His death certificate shows how little was known
of a lone Armenian such as Chatoor. While it stated he was born in
Armenia, this may be an assumption. It was not known when he arrived in
Victoria, who his parents were. who his wife was, although he was
believed to be married, or if he had children.”

What happened to J. Arratoon is unknown. He was listed as owning a
mining lease and living in Ross Street, Maryborough in 1872.% Judging by
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the lack of detail on Chatoor’s death c.erti_ﬁ::a.ue. Js Arratqon was not present
to supply information. Curiously his mmalg were given as J.K. This
suggests that this man may be the above mentioned Johannes K. Arathoon
having returned from New Zealand. .

Records have indicated that other Armenians were present in the
1850s. For example, P. Satoor, described as a digger accompanied C.
Zorab, aged ten, and also described as a digger, on the Frances Henty to
London in August 1854.%

Of greater significance however is Johannes M. Gregory, whose
maltreatment by a Government trooper (soldier) would write his name into
Victoria’s history. Because of this unsavoury incident, more extensive
resources and hence detail exist.

Disquiet on the Ballarat goldfields had been increasing through a
combination of hatred for the expensive gold mining licences, the
arrogance of some troopers in demanding to check these licences and the
perceived corruption of members of the judiciary. By October 1854,
discontent had reached near boiling point after Governor Hotham ordered
more frequent licence hunts to catch evaders, and hence boost the
government’s rather depleted coffers.

On 10 October, against this volatile background, Johannes Gregory,
the servant of the Roman Catholic priest Father Smyth was sent to visit a
sick man in his tent. While he was there, Trooper James Lord, who was
checking for miners who did not possess a licence, turned up at the tent
entrance.

Lord asked Johannes if he had a licence. Johannes replied that he did
not, as he was the priest’s servant, whereupon Lord tried to arrest him and
march him to the Government Camp. Pointing out that he was disabled and
could not walk over the diggings, Johannes offered to go with Lord, if he
could take him there. This response infuriated the trooper who lashed out
and knocked Johannes to the ground, dragging him about. Lord’s horse
then trampled on Johannes causing serious injury.

Angry onlookers were soon milling around the tent. Commissioner
Johnston rode up, but sided with Lord, telling the crowd the trooper was
Just doing his duty and should not be hindered. At about the same time,
Father Smyth arrived, and hearing what had happened, gave Johnston £5 as
bail for Johannes. Johnston took the money and rode off.

The following morning Johannes appeared in the Magistrate’s Court
charged with being on the goldfields without a licence, even though he was
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exempt. He tried to explain this, but was cut short by magistrate John
Dewes who declared his bail forfeited. Then Commissioner Johnson
entered the courtroom and advised that Johannes was not charged with
being on the goldfields without a licence, but with assaulting the trooper.
Found guilty of this second charge, Johannes was fined £5.

Pandemonium erupted. That Johannes was fined, instead of receiving
an apology for Lord’s assault upon him infuriated both the press and the
public. The Ballarat Times warned the government that the public outrage
over this injustice might spill into something more serious.” This duly
happened.

The Catholics saw the incident as an insult to their priest.
Compounding the insult was the very blatant miscarriage of justice, which
again was perceived to be hostile towards the Catholics and yet a further
example of the corrupt judiciary. Against all evidence, John Dewes had
recently acquitted his associate James Bentley of the murder of James
Scobie, a miner: now he found a disabled man guilty of assaulting a
trooper.

A public meeting held at the Catholic Chapel on Wednesday 25
October, adopted two resolutions. Firstly that an enquiry should be set up
to re-hear Johannes Gregory’'s case as it was felt he had been wrongly
convicted and secondly that Commissioner Johnston be dismissed because
of his conduct.”” While the first demand did not eventuate, Johnston was
dismissed. However, this was not enough to stem the tide of events which
culminated in the battle at the Eureka Stockade on 3 December 1854: an
event regarded as pivotal in Australian history.

Johannes M. Gregory remains a mystery:'” perhaps he was Malcolm
Manuk’s fellow traveller, Hovhannes, who was later forced to sell his ring
to obtain some money.'”' While some writers claim he is a native of
Armenia. others say he is Armenian, and others that he is of Armenian
extraction.'” He has been referred to as MacGregory, which indicates that
his middle name might have been Mackertich or Mackertoom.

Considering his anglicised surname, it is likely that Johannes came
from one of the Armenian communities in Southeast Asia or from Persia.
They mainly comprised descendants of Armenians deported to Persia by
Shah Abbas in the early 1600s. From there, many later migrated to India,
and southwards. Nearly all of them modified their names for usage within
English speaking communities, for example, to Gregory. Stephens, Edgar,
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Thomas, Lucas and Sarkies. However, they still retained and maintained
their Armenian identity through language, religion and culture.

As many of these Armenians had been educated in India, they were
fluent English speakers, thus it is surprising to read that Johannes spoke
little or even no English.'03 One wonders why such a man would have been
employed as a priest’s servant. No record has been found of his arrival, or
departure, or why or when he was employed by Father Smyth. Some
writers refer to him as Gregorius'™ (the Latin for Gregory): this strongly
intimates there must be some Roman Catholic Church record of him, but
all enquiries and research have failed to unearth information.

The Gold Rush Armenians were not the only Armenians to migrate to
Victoria: other arrivals included the Zohrab family, a branch of the famous
Manuchariants clan. Peter Thomas Henry Gordon Zohrab, son of Peter
Paul John Zohrab and Fanny Williams, was born in 1817.'""” Married to
Marianne Walker in 1840,'” Peter had four children: Isabella, who died in
1841; '“Constantine born in 1843,'” Clara born in 1848'” and Harold
born in 1849.""" In May 1850, the family set sail for South Africa on the
Ballengeich, arriving in Durban in July.'"

Their stay was brief. In 1852 Peter and Marianne, accompanied by
their surviving children Constantine and Clara boarded the Hannah at Port
Natal and sailed to Melbourne, arriving on 15 November.''? The family
settled in the fledgling suburb of Prahran where Peter set up as an
auctioneer and commercial agent in Chapel Street.'” A well known
pioneering citizen of the municipality, in April 1854, Peter was appointed
secretary of a committee determined that the government should bear some
responsibility for the costs of drainage in Prahran.

He was described as ‘a man of parts, of forty years, square shouldered,
with black moustache, running into side whiskers, a large nose, and well-
set eyes, half-hidden with spectacles. He spoke quickly, his matter was
good, his manner assertive.” Indeed he was described as being ‘a sort of
municipal Moses, to lead the men of Prahran out of the Sloughs of
Despond, and to give to them a corporate individuality, built on the axiom
that union is strength.”''* But that was wishful thinking.

A man who spoke his mind, Peter twice penned short letters to the
Argus newspaper. In 1861 in response to a query about the bergamot
lemon, he advised it was widely grown in Malta, from whence plants could
be obtained.''” The following year he detailed a French cure for pleuro-
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pneumonia, which he considered worth trying in order to combat the illness
which was devastating local cattle herds "'

However, his own businesses did not do well. On 4 June 1858, Peter,
now operating his business in the nearby suburb of Richmond, was
declared insolvent with liabilities totalling £323, and assets of only £26.
Released from bankruptcy on 25 October 1858, he set up again as an
auctioneer, before turning to brokering. However, Peter was no more
successful in this field, being declared insolvent on 12 August 1861, with
liabilities totalling £184, and assets aFain of only £26. He was released
from insolvency on 10 February 1862.'"

In Melbourne, Marianne gave birth to five more children: Percy Alfred
Zorab''"® born in Prahran on 7 March 1855." James in 1856, Walter in
1858;12§idney, who lived for only seven months, in 1861 and Melita in
1863.

Meanwhile, on 1 July 1862, Constantine had sailed on the City of
Hobart for Port Chalmers, New Zealand. He may have been heading for
the Central Otago gold rushes,"”' but in 1865, he was listed as living in
Dunedin.'”? By 1864 Peter Zohrab and the famil?/ had also departed for
Dunedin where they remained until at least 1871./ Peter eventually died
in Wellington in 1881. Constantine, who became a noted citizen, married
Edith Wills and had a family of eleven children. He died in 1897 in
Wellington, where Zohrab Street is a reminder of the family.'” His
descendants still live in New Zealand and proudly acknowledge their
Armenian heritage, distant though it is.

A later arrival to Melbourne was the Thomas family from Batavia.
Born in Bushire in about 1822, Stephen Thomas was the eldest son of
merchant Abraham Thomas (Tomassian) and his wife Peirie.'”® After
Abraham met an untimely end, Peirie took her children to Java - perhaps
family members were already living there. As with most Armenians on
Java, Stephen and his younger brothers Isaac. Satoor and Carapiet became
merchants. By 1863 Satoor had established Thomas & Company, later
opening branches in Surabaya and Semarang. It is most likely that Stephen
worked in one of the company’s offices before migrating to Australia.

Stephen, his wife Annie Meyer and their three daughters - Isabel,
Emily and Fairy - accompanied by a servant arrived in Melbourne on 18
March 1868. Sailing from Batavia on the 518 ton Passarowang, these six
were ﬂ;l;i only passengers, and were calculated as comprising 4.5 statutory
adults.
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Why the family took this unusual step of migrating to far off
Melbourne rather than to Singapore, India, Holland, Burma or even
elsewhere in the Dutch East Indies where other Armenian communities
existed. remains unknown. There were very few Armenians living in
Melbourne, and trading contacts were minimal. Stephen first worked for a
Dutch firm before setting up on his own as an importer. From 1869-1870
the family lived in Carlton but by 1880 had moved to the more salubriou’s
suburb of Brighton West where from 1886, they lived in Black Street.'”’
An 1899 electoral roll gave Stephen's profession as ‘gentleman’.'”® He
died on 4 March 1911 at the age of eighty-nine, while Annie died on 27
November 1922. Their tombstone, erected by their daughters, can be found
in the Church of England section of the Brighton General Cemetery.

The misinformation given on Stephen’s and to a greater extent on
Annie’s death certificates are an example of how information, although
given in good faith may be inaccurate. Stephen’s death certificate stated he
married ‘Annie Mayer’ in Melbourne, but shipping records show this is not
true.'”” Annie’s death certificate said she was married in Melbourne at the
age of twenty to Stephen A. Thomas: that she was born in Watford,
England to John Mayne a coachbuilder and his wife Charlotte née Smith.""
This erroneous information, provided by her daughters who obviously had
been told little of their mother’s background, epitomizes the loss of family
history which so often occurs when one is part of a minority group.

The couple had five children of whom the first three, as mentioned,
were born in Batavia: Isabella Helena on 19 October 1863;'3' Emily
Blanche on 3 September 1866''” and Fairy in 1868. Two more children
were born in Melbourne: Theodore in 1870 and Lilian Maud in 1872.""

None of the girls married. Fairy died in 1952 and Isabella in 1947, both
aged eighty-four, while Lillian died in 1962 aged ninety."* Emily was the
sister who stood out, enjoying minor fame as a composer., her works being
greatly influenced by World War One.'*® Also a talented artist, she later
made her living from portrait painting and died in 1947 aged eighty-one.'**
Theodore had died by 1922."

This family merged into Australian society, the first step having been
taken when Stephen married a non-Armenian wife. In such marriages, it
was seldom that the children were taught Armenian. Assimilation was
inevitabilised with the move to a non-Armenian environment: the lack of
contact with other Armenians meant there was little impetus for the
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children to learn Armenian or to encourage interest in their Armenian
background.

Contemporaneous with the Thomas family, and likewise one with an
Armenian father and non-Armenian mother was the Sarkies family. John
Andrew Sarkies, the son of a merchant, was born in 1832 in Shusha. the
old capital of Karabakh. No arrival date has been found in Victorian
records, but on 15 February 1864, he married Scottish-born Helen McKay
in the manse of the Scots Church, in Melbourne.'*®

Unlike the Thomas family, the Sarkies were not well-off. John worked
as a grocer, then as a general dealer in central Melbourne. From 1869, he
operated in Turner Alley while in 1871 under the name of Andrew Sarkies,
he was listed as conducting business from Lynch Alley. As John remained
listed for Turner Alley, both businesses must have belonged to him, his son
Andrew being then only six years old."”” Helen gave birth to eight children:
Margaret in 1864, Andrew in 1865, John in 1867, David in 1869, Isabella
in 1871, Sarah in 1873, Isaac in 1875 and Joseph in 1877. Sadly, childhood
deaths were common in those days and four Sarkies children died within a
few years: Sarah in 1874, John and Isabella in 1875 and Joseph in 1877.'%
The family lived in rented properties in the inner suburbs changing
addresses within Carlton and Fitzroy'!' until they sailed for Scotland in
1878.

There, the couple’s last child, Grace, was born in Kingston, Kilsyth in
May 1880.'*? The following year, John returned to Melbourne on the Loch
Ness,'*" setting up as a fruiterer, while Helen and the children returned in
1883 on board the Loch Tay.'** Unhappily, death claimed yet another child
when Isaac died in 1885.'*°

Information on John Sarkies” death has not been found, but Helen was
listed in her own right in a directory from 1886, again frequently changing
address.'*® She was reduced to working as a charwoman in her final years
and died in 1905 aged sixty-four.'"’

Unlike the Thomas children, the Sarkies children married and had
families. Margaret, who married Henry Parker in 1886, had at least three
children: Alice born in Prahran in 1886."'** Henry born in 1887 in St Kilda
and Eric born in 1896 at St Kilda. '** Margaret died in South Yarra in 1952
aged 87."*"

Andrew became a clerk and in October 1899, was appointed to a
temporary post at the Victorian Mounted Rifles Barracks. After serving in
South Africa, he secured a position in the Department of Home Affairs
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remaining there until his untimely death on 21 Stmlember 1910, following
a fall after alighting from a cab in Flinders Street. e

Andrew had married Mary Jane Lalor in Carlton in 1889."° Like his
father, he often changed address, moving between the inner suburbs of
Carlton, Fitzroy, Abbotsford and Collin%wood until a better job led to a
more up market house in Glen Huntly."” The couple had five children:
Rose born in 1890, who died in 1891; Grace born in 1891, Edwin in 1893,
William in 1896 and Walter in 1897."*" All children married and their
descendants are still living in Melbourne.

Andrew’s younger brother David married Elizabeth Nicholson in
Melbourne in 1891 and had at least one child: a daughter named Rachael
born in 1898.'"" They too constantly moved house, in Fitzroy and
Northcote, where David ran a dyeing and cleaning business for a short
time, and on to Brunswick where in the late 1890s he began to manufacture
clothing.'*® He died in 1926 in North Fitzroy, aged fifty-six.'*” Grace, who
married Robert Bostock in Narrandera, New South Wales in 1901'** gave
birl:hlst? seven children, but died in Brisbane in 1914, aged only thirty-
four.

The next known Armenian to settle in Melbourne was a much later
arrival: Mackertich Car Lucas, who also married a non-Armenian wife.
Born in Calcutta around 1858, he was one of the sons of Catchick Lucas
and Hosanna Gregory.'® Mackertich married Harriet Thompson, a widow
with two young children on 5 July 1888.'"' The couple had five children:
Herbert John Maccar was born in North Fitzroy in 1889, while the next
three were born in Northcote: William in 1890, James, who lived only two
days, in 1892 and Dorothy in 1894. Their last child, Victor Carr was born
in 1895 in Fitzroy.'" After working as a carrier, Mackertich became a
gripman and then a grip repairer for the Tramway Company which ran the
cable trams.'” He died in Melbourne in 1932, aged seventy-four,'** and
has descendants still living in Melbourne.'®

Probably the last Armenian to settle in Victoria in the nineteenth
century was Haroutiun Garabet Balakian. Born on 1 August 1868 at Tokat
in Anatolia, Haroutiun sailed from Constantinople to London in early
1897.' Three months later, he boarded the Weimar at Antwerp and set sail
for Melbourne arriving on 21 July.'” For some time he lived in Middle
Park but later made his home in Eltham. Haroutiun set up business as an
importer at 346 Flinders Street in the heart of the city, for some years.'®®
Like his earlier compatriots, he too would marry an Australian woman, but
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unlike them would suffer official discrimination when new laws on
naturalisation were introduced after the formation of the Commonwealth of
Australia in 1901. However Haroutiun Balakian’s story belongs with those
who migrated to Australia in the early twentieth century. He died at the age
of seventy-eight in 1946.'%

Other Armenian names have surfaced in the late nineteenth century but
further information on them has not yet been found. Perhaps this is because
like Mr E. Joakim, a gentleman who arrived on the Britannia from Calcutta
in March 1889, they were en route to Sydney,'” or elsewhere. Thus there
is mention of Mr J. H. Manouk who arrived on 4 August 1890 from
Marseilles on the Australien,'”’ Surgeon Captain Sarkies, who landed on
28 April 1893 having boarded the Ballaarat at Colombo,'” Miss Arratoon
who arrived from Calcutta on the Bhundara on 23 April 1895'" and Mr
and Mrs Sarkies with their three children, aged five, seven and thirteen,
landed in Melbourne on 17 August 1898, having traveled from France on
the Armand Behic, but were en route to Noumea.'” Mr G. Jordan who
arrived on 1 April 1898 on the /ndia was a horse shipper on his way to
Sydney, perhaps to arrange a consignment for one of the noted Armenian
racing horse owners of Calcutta.'”

History is not static: it undergoes modification, some subtle, some less
so, as new evidence becomes available and hence new interpretations can
be posited. The narrative of the pioneering Armenians in Victoria
exemplifies this.

The work of Mirzaian and Abrahamian paved the way for future
research, but their conclusions were based more on speculation than fact.
Both gave the impression of a larger, more highly organised and united
Armenian community than existed. While Armenian men travelled to
Victoria in small groups, and some lived nearby each other in South
Melbourne, that does not provide adequate grounds to talk of a community.
A community as such is conceptualized both internally and externally; that
is to say, those within it see themselves as being distinctive from other
groups: and those without, also perceive the community as holding
attributes which distinguish it from them.

In Victoria in the mid 1850s there were fewer than twenty Armenians
at any one time. It might be argued that in Penang for instance, although
the number of Armenians was even less, a distinct Armenian community
existed. However the Armenians in Penang were concentrated in one small
city, had economic power, coupled with political and social standing,
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enjoyed close links with nearby Armenian communities and above all, had
their own Church.

The situation in Victoria could not be more different. The Armenians
were scattered throughout the State of Victoria, lacked an economic power
base and social status, and were merely a few among the countless
thousands of arrivals who had flooded into Victoria. Rather than speaking
of a community, it is more realistic to speak of Armenian individuals. And
one must be careful not to extrapolate findings on these individuals thereby
generalizing them into an *Armenian community .

Mirzaian and Abrahamian are ambivalent about the Armenians’
motives for migrating vacillating between suggesting they intended
founding a settlement, and returning home after a short stay. | suggest that
the arrivals of the 1850s came to look and assess the situation.

Contrary to what Mirzaian and Abrahamian implied, these men are not
anonymous and forgotten; records exist pointing to their arrivals,
occupations, marriages and deaths. Of the twenty-two known Gold Rush
arrivals, two died unexpectedly: two settled permanently and seven
returned home. The remaining eleven remain unaccounted for, though as
they are not listed in Victorian marriage or burial databases, it might be
assumed they left the colony.

Of the other arrivals, one family moved to New Zealand. but the others
remained in Victoria becoming assimilated into the British community.
Their marriages to non-Armenian women inevitably led to the erosion of
their language, religion and culture. Details of family history became lost
or misunderstood, leading to errors or the ubiquitous response ‘not known’
on death certificates.

Researching the Armenians in nineteenth century Victoria has been
fraught with difficulties. The few extant records contain personal
information which, for a number of reasons is often conflicting and
contradictory. Even the surnames themselves were challenging to track as
indexes contained the spellings of names as interpreted by printers or
transcribers. Because the expected spelling of a surname is not listed, it
does not necessarily follow that the person is not there: lateral searching is
called for. For example, Sarkies appeared in databases and indexes as
Acrkies, Carkus, Larkies, Jarkies, Sarbin and Sarkiss.

This paper has focussed on the Armenians of the nineteenth century.
After 1900 the number of Armenians in Victoria began to increase, with a
pattern of chain migration becoming evident. Much more information
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exists for these later arrivals, thereby providing a rich source waiting to be
mined by social historians.
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